



## **CONSTITUTION OF THE NEW ZEALAND GEOGRAPHICAL SOCIETY, INCORPORATED (2014)**

### **CI. 1 NAME AND LOCATION**

- 1.1 The name of the Society shall be the New Zealand Geographical Society, Incorporated.
- 1.2 The Registered Office of the New Zealand Geographical Society, Incorporated (the “Society”) shall be in the School of People, Environment and Planning at Massey University, or at another such place as the Council of the Society shall from time to time decide.
- 1.3 The Society is registered as a charitable entity under the Charities Act, 2005, with the registration number CC44394.

### **CI. 2 DEFINITIONS**

- 2.1 In this Constitution, unless the context requires otherwise, the following words and phrases have the following meanings:

‘Act’ means the Incorporated Societies Act 2022 or any Act which replaces it (including amendments to it from time to time), and any regulations made under the Act or under any Act which replaces it.

‘Annual General Meeting’ means a meeting of the Members of the Society held once per year which, among other things, will receive and consider reports on the Society’s activities and finances.

‘President’ means the Officer responsible for chairing General Meetings and committee meetings, and who provides leadership for the Society.

‘Committee’ means the Society’s governing body, also called the ‘Executive Committee’.

‘Constitution’ means the rules in this document.

‘Vice President’ means the Officer elected or appointed to deputise in the absence of the ‘President’.

‘General Meeting’ means either an Annual General Meeting or a Special General Meeting of the Members of the Society.

‘Interested Member’ means a Member who is interested in a matter for any of the reasons set out in section 62 of the Act.

‘Interests Register’ means the register of interests of Officers, kept under this Constitution and as required by section 73 of the Act.

‘Matter’ means—

- the Society’s performance of its activities or exercise of its powers; or
- an arrangement, agreement, or contract (a transaction) made or entered into, or proposed to be entered into, by the Society.

‘Member’ means a person who has consented to become a Member of the Society and has been properly admitted to the Society who has not ceased to be a Member of the Society.

‘Notice’ to Members includes any notice given by email, post, or courier.

‘Officer’ means a natural person who is:

- a member of the Committee, or
- occupying a position in the Society that allows them to exercise significant influence over the management or administration of the Society, including any Chief Executive or Treasurer.

‘Register of Members’ means the register of Members kept under this Constitution as required by section 79 of the Act.

‘Secretary’ means the Officer responsible for the matters specifically noted in this Constitution.

‘Special General Meeting’ means a meeting of the Members, other than an Annual General Meeting, called for a specific purpose or purposes.

‘Working Days’ mean as defined in the Legislation Act 2019. Examples of days that are not Working Days include, but are not limited to, the following — a Saturday, a Sunday, Waitangi Day, Good Friday, Easter Monday, ANZAC Day, the Sovereign’s birthday, Te Rā Aroki a Matariki / Matariki Observance Day, and Labour Day.

### **CI. 3 AIMS AND OBJECTIVES**

The primary aims and objectives of the Society are to:

- 3.1 foster geography and its application in New Zealand society;
- 3.2 foster the study of geography in secondary and tertiary educational institutions across New Zealand;
- 3.3 support the work of geography teachers;
- 3.4 promote geographic research;
- 3.5 make available the findings of original geographical research;
- 3.6 respond appropriately to calls for informed submissions and statements from the NZGS membership, private sector, Crown agencies, community organisations, tangata whenua, geographic organisations and other national and international organisations.
- 3.7 encourage individuals in related fields to participate in the Society; and,
- 3.8 in giving effect to the primary aims and objectives of the Society (above), the Society shall

encourage policies and practices that reflect Aotearoa New Zealand's cultural diversity and shall, in particular, have due regard to the provisions of, and to the spirit and intent of, Te Tiriti o Waitangi (the Treaty of Waitangi).

#### **Cl. 4 MEMBERSHIP**

- 4.1 Membership of the Society is open to persons interested in its aims and objectives.
- 4.2 There are four classes of membership:
- a) Fellows – financial members who have been awarded the title of Fellow of the New Zealand Geographical Society by the Executive Committee;
  - b) Members – individuals who pay an annual subscription, as well as teachers of geography identified by subscribing secondary schools or colleges;
  - c) Schools - secondary schools and colleges that offer classes in geography and pay an annual subscription; and
  - d) Life Fellows – individuals who have been formally elected to this honorary status at an Annual General Meeting of the Society on the unanimous recommendation of the Council.
- 4.3 A member of the Society, other than a Life Fellow, is deemed financial upon payment of the current annual subscription and any arrears.
- 4.4 Membership of the Society is for successive periods of twelve months, and ceases when written notification is received by the Secretary of a member's intention not to renew the subscription.
- 4.5 The Society shall maintain the minimum number of Members (10) required by the Act.
- 4.6 Every applicant for membership must consent in writing to becoming a Member.
- 4.7 An applicant for membership must complete and sign an application form and supply any information as may be reasonably required by the Committee regarding an application for membership and will become a Member on acceptance of that application by the Committee.
- 4.8 The Committee may accept or decline an application for membership at its sole discretion.
- 4.9 The Committee must advise the applicant of its decision.
- 4.10 The signed written consent of every Member to become a Society Member shall be retained in the Society's membership records.
- 4.11 Every Member shall provide the Society in writing with that Member's name and contact details (namely, physical or email address and a telephone number) and promptly advise the Society in writing of any changes to those details.
- 4.12 A Member ceases to be a Member—
- a) by resignation from that Member's class of membership by written notice signed by that Member to the Committee, or
  - b) on termination of a Member's membership following a dispute resolution process under this Constitution, or
  - c) on death (or if a body corporate on liquidation or deregistration, or if a partnership on

- dissolution of the partnership), or
- d) where the Member has failed to pay a subscription to the Society within 90 working days of the due date for payment, or, in the opinion of the Committee the Member has brought the Society into disrepute, with effect from (as applicable): the date of receipt of the Member's notice of resignation by the Committee (or any subsequent date stated in the notice of resignation), or the date of termination of the Member's membership under this Constitution, or the date of death of the Member (or if a body corporate from the date of its liquidation or deregistration, or if a partnership from the date of its dissolution), or the date specified in a resolution of the Committee and when a Member's membership has been terminated the Committee shall promptly notify the former Member in writing.

4.13 The Society will keep an up-to-date Register of Members. For each current Member, the information contained in the Register of Members shall include —

- a) Their name,
- b) The date on which they became a Member (if there is no record of the date they joined, this date will be recorded as 'Unknown'), and
- c) Their contact details, including a physical address or an electronic address, and a telephone number.

## **CI. 5 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING**

- 5.1 The supreme authority of the NZGS will be vested in the Annual General Meeting, which shall be held at a place to be determined by the Council. The meeting shall normally be held not later than 30 September but should coincide where possible with a scheduled biennial conference of the New Zealand Geographical Society.
- 5.2 The quorum shall be ten financial members, including:
- a) the President, or the Vice-President, or the Past President, one of whom shall chair the meeting; and
  - b) the Secretary and/or the Treasurer.
- 5.3 Not less than six weeks before the Annual General Meeting, the Secretary shall write to branches requesting details of any matter(s) that they wish discussed at the meeting.
- 5.4 Normally not less than two weeks before the agreed date for the Annual General Meeting, the Secretary shall send electronic copies of the agenda and attachments to each financial member.
- 5.5 Provided that the motion does not involve changes to the Society's constitution or the rules of any of its standing committees, a new item of business may be formally moved and seconded at that meeting then put to the vote.
- 5.6 Voting shall be by voice or show of hands unless a formal ballot is requested by at least one financial member present at the meeting.
- 5.7 Only financial members present at the Annual General Meeting may cast a vote.
- 5.8 Minutes of the Annual General Meeting shall be taken by the Secretary. In absence of the Secretary, the Treasurer, Information and Privacy Officer, or Membership Officer shall take minutes of the Annual General Meeting.

## **CI. 6 THE COUNCIL**

- 6.1 The purpose of the Council is to:
  - a) develop and approve the policy direction of the Society in line with its aims and objectives;
  - b) approve budgets; and
  - c) confirm awards.
- 6.2 The President shall call and preside over a meeting of the Council at least once each calendar year.
- 6.3 The Council may from time to time set up working parties to report to it on matters of interest to the Society.
- 6.4 Nominations for awards shall be called for and received by the Secretary. An Awards Sub-Committee shall consider these nominations then make recommendations to the Council.
- 6.5 On the unanimous vote of those present at a meeting, the Council may approve nominations and recommendations for the NZGS Awards (as listed in Awards Schedule)
- 6.6 On the majority vote of those present at the meeting, the Council may approve recommendations relating to the President's awards and fellowships of the Society.
- 6.7 Not less than six weeks before a meeting of the Council, the Secretary shall write to branches requesting (a) details of any matter(s) they wish discussed at that meeting and (b) the name of the branch representative who will be attending it.
- 6.8 Not less than six weeks before the Council meeting, the Secretary shall write to all elected officers to request written reports on the previous year's activities that relate to the positions they hold.
- 6.9 Normally not less than one week before the agreed date for the Council Meeting, the Secretary shall send electronic copies of the agenda, reports and relevant attachments to each Council member.

## **CI. 7 STANDING COMMITTEES**

There will be the following standing committees:

- 7.1 the Executive Committee;
- 7.2 the NZ Board of Geography Teachers (NZBoGT);
- 7.3 the Editorial Board;
- 7.4 the Awards Sub-committee;
- 7.5 the Early Career Researchers' Network;
- 7.6 study groups; and
- 7.7 branch committees.

## **CI. 8 SUBSCRIPTIONS**

- 8.1 The membership subscription shall be determined from time to time by the Council and is payable annually by a member, fellow, secondary school or college.

- 8.2 The Council may offer concessionary subscription rates for the above categories of membership to students studying fulltime at a recognised educational institution, to individuals who have retired or are unwaged, as well as to secondary schools and colleges with few students in upper-year geography classes. Individuals and organisations paying concessionary rates enjoy the full benefits of membership.
- 8.3 An organisation, institution or library may subscribe to the *New Zealand Geographer* only, with the fee determined by the Publisher and payable directly to Wiley-Blackwell Publishing.
- 8.4 The annual subscription is due on the first day of each calendar year and applies to the full calendar year, except where new members join after 30 September whereupon their membership is for the full calendar year following.

#### **CI. 9 PRIVILEGES OF MEMBERSHIP**

- 9.1 Financial members of the Society shall receive newsletters and online access to all issues of the *New Zealand Geographer* during the calendar year.
- 9.2 Financial members of the Society shall normally receive the Annual Report, including the audited or financially reviewed statement, four weeks before the Annual General Meeting.
- 9.3 Financial members of the Society may vote in person on any formal motion brought to the Annual General Meeting.
- 9.4 Financial members of the Society shall normally receive a concessionary rate to Society Conferences.
- 9.5 Financial members of the Society are eligible for awards and grants conferred by the Society.

#### **CI. 10 BRANCHES**

- 10.1 The Council may authorise the formation of a branch of the Society anywhere in New Zealand.
- 10.2 Each branch is covered by the charitable status of the Society and shall be bound by the rules of the New Zealand Geographical Society Incorporated, including the provisions of this constitution.
- 10.3 A branch may enrol interested individuals in its area who, for a sum determined by the Branch Committee, shall receive copies of the Branch programme and newsletters but none of the Society's publications.
- 10.4 Each branch shall be represented on the Council by one financial member of the Society.
- 10.5 Each year the Society through its Registered Office may rebate to a branch a proportion of the membership subscription income, with the amount determined by the Council, for all members and fellows residing in the area served by that branch.
- 10.6 A branch may use the rebate received from the Society's Registered Office to cover approved expenses, and each year shall provide the Council with a copy of its balance sheet, including a statement of income and expenditure for the previous twelve months.
- 10.7 The rules of a branch shall be approved by the Council of the Society, as shall any proposed amendment to them.
- 10.8 A branch shall be responsible for covering any deficit it may from time to time incur.
- 10.9 Not less than 18 months before the event, the Executive shall formally invite a branch to organise a biennial conference in association with geographers employed by the University

which hosts that branch, as well as local members of the New Zealand Board of Geography Teachers. Normally every six years, the event will be a joint conference of the New Zealand Geographical Society and the Institute of Australian Geographers.

10.10 Provided at least one month's notice has been given in writing, any member or fellow in good financial standing may formally move that a branch be wound up. If the majority of members and fellows at a formal meeting of the Branch support the motion, then all financial and other assets shall be transferred without undue delay to the Registered Office.

10.11 Sub-branches or geography clusters may establish for the purpose of networking where there are too few members for a formal branch. Such clusters may apply to their nearest branch or the Committee for financial support to participate in events, which meet the objectives of the Society.

## **CI. 11 ELECTED OFFICERS AND EMPLOYEES OF THE SOCIETY**

11.1 At least three months before the expiry of an incumbent term, the Secretary shall contact branches to request nominations of financial members to serve as President, Vice-President, Secretary, Treasurer, Membership Officer, Information and Privacy Officer, Chair of the Editorial Board, University Academic Teachers Liaison Officer, Initial Teacher Liaison Officer, and IGU Officer. The New Zealand early career community shall select one of its members to serve as the Early Career Researchers' Network Representative to sit on the Executive Committee and shall inform the Secretary of changes at the end of each term.

11.2 The terms of Officers shall be as follows:

- President shall be for two years. The outgoing President shall automatically become the Past President, and the Vice-President shall normally become the President after one year. If the nominee for VP is a current member of the Executive, the period of appointment can be less than one year as appropriate .
- The terms of the Secretary, Treasurer, Membership Officer, Information and Privacy Officer, Chair of the Editorial Board, Communications Officer, University Academic Teachers Liaison Officer, and Initial Teacher Liaison Officer, shall be for three years, with the option of a further term or terms at the discretion of the Council.
- The term of the IGU Officer shall be for four years.
- The terms of the Early Career Researchers' Network Representative shall normally be for two years.
- The term of the Past President shall normally be for one year.
- The Executive may co-opt not more than two other members, each for a period of two years, with the option to have co-opted members prolong their term for a one year period from there on.
- All elected and co-opted individuals shall become members of the Executive Committee and will be entitled to participate fully in its business.
- Where an agenda item makes this appropriate, the President may invite any other individual to attend a meeting of the Executive Committee. That person may speak but may not vote at the meeting.

11.3 The Council shall appoint the Chair of Editorial Board for the *New Zealand Geographer*, and the appointee shall inform the Council whom he or she wishes to serve as Managing Editor and section editors. All members of the editorial team must be in good financial standing.

- 11.4 An elected or appointed officer shall not normally receive a fee or honorarium, but the Society may contribute towards the costs of attending Council and Executive Committee meetings.
- 11.5 The Executive Committee may employ a suitably qualified person for a specific period and at an appropriate salary for duties set out in the relevant position description. Each such employee shall report to, and be the responsibility of, an elected officer of the Society (normally the Secretary or Treasurer).
- 11.6 If urgent action is required following the death or departure of an officer, either the Council or its Executive Committee may appoint a replacement to serve in that person's place until the next Annual General Meeting.

## **Cl. 12 ADMINISTRATION OF PROPERTY AND FUNDS**

- 12.1 The Secretary shall act as the chief administrative officer of the Society and keep records of all business transacted in the name of the Society.
- 12.2 The Treasurer shall oversee the Society's accountant and shall furnish to the Council a statement of accounts duly certified by a registered auditor or a financial reviewer appointed by that body.
- 12.3 The Society's balance date (end of financial year) is 31 December.
- 12.4 One member of the Society in good financial standing shall be nominated by the Council to serve as the Trustee, and the appointment shall be by majority vote of the Council. The term is for three years but may be renewed by the Council for a maximum of three consecutive one-year terms. The Trustee and the Treasurer shall act as trustees of the Society's property and funds.
- 12.5 All income received by or on behalf of the Society shall be deposited in an account with a trading bank approved by the Council. All cheques and withdrawal slips shall be signed by any two of the following: the employee responsible for accounting functions, the Secretary, the Treasurer, and the Trustee.
- 12.6 The Society can borrow or invest money on terms previously agreed to by the Council.
- 12.7 The Common Seal of the Society shall be held by the Secretary and affixed to documents in the presence of the President, the Trustee or the Treasurer.
- 12.8 Any income, benefit or advantage must be used to advance the charitable purposes of the Society. No member of the Society, or anyone associated with a member, may take part in or influence any decision made by the Society in respect of payments to or on behalf of the member or an associated person of any income, benefit or advantage. Any payments made to a member of the Society, or to any person associated with a member, must be for goods or services that advance the Society's charitable purpose and must be reasonable and relative to payments that would be made between unrelated parties.

## **Cl.13 Dispute Resolution**

- 13.1. A dispute is a disagreement or conflict involving the Society and/or its Members in relation to specific allegations set out below.
- 13.2 The disagreement or conflict may be between any of the following persons—
  - a) 2 or more Members

- b) 1 or more Members and the Society
- c) 1 or more Members and 1 or more Officers
- d) 1 or more Officers
- e) 1 or more Officers and the Society
- f) 1 or more Members or Officers and the Society.

13.3 The disagreement or conflict relates to any of the following allegations—

- a) a Member or an Officer has engaged in misconduct
- b) a Member or an Officer has breached, or is likely to breach, a duty under the Society's Constitution or bylaws or the Act
- c) the Society has breached, or is likely to breach, a duty under the Society's Constitution or bylaws or the Act
- d) a Member's rights or interests as a Member have been damaged or Member's rights or interests generally have been damaged.

13.4 A Member or an Officer may make a complaint by giving to the Committee (or a complaints subcommittee) a notice in writing that—

- a) states that the Member or Officer is starting a procedure for resolving a dispute in accordance with the Society's Constitution; and
- b) sets out the allegation(s) to which the dispute relates and whom the allegation or allegations is or are against; and
- c) sets out any other information or allegations reasonably required by the Society.

13.5 The Society may make a complaint involving an allegation against a Member or an Officer by giving to the Member or Officer a notice in writing that—

- a) states that the Society is starting a procedure for resolving a dispute in accordance with the Society's Constitution; and
- b) sets out the allegation to which the dispute relates.

13.6 The information setting out the allegations must be sufficiently detailed to ensure that a person against whom an allegation or allegations is made is fairly advised of the allegation or allegations concerning them, with sufficient details given to enable that person to prepare a response.

13.7 A complaint may be made in any other reasonable manner permitted by the Society's Constitution. All Members (including the Committee) are obliged to cooperate to resolve disputes efficiently, fairly, and with minimum disruption to the Society's activities.

13.8 The complainant raising a dispute, and the Committee, must consider and discuss whether a dispute may best be resolved through informal discussions, mediation, arbitration, or a tikanga-based practice. Where mediation or arbitration is agreed on, the parties will sign a suitable mediation or arbitration agreement.

## **CI. 14 SPECIAL MEETINGS**

14.1 A special meeting of the Society may be summoned by the Executive Committee in its own right or upon receipt of a petition signed by at least twenty financial members of the Society. Notice of the time, date, place and business shall be sent to financial members not less than three weeks before the proposed meeting. The quorum, meeting management and voting

procedures shall be the same as for the Annual General Meeting.

## **CI. 15 AMENDMENTS TO THE CONSTITUTION**

- 15.1 Any five financial members of the New Zealand Geographical Society – one to move and four to second – may formally propose amendment(s) to this constitution.
- 15.2 Notice of any proposed amendment(s) shall be sent by the Secretary to financial members not less than four weeks before the next Annual General Meeting.
- 15.3 Voting on a formally proposed amendment shall be by voice or by show of hands of those present at the Annual General Meeting.
- 15.4 Any agreed amendment(s) shall take effect immediately following the Annual General Meeting.

## **CI.16 WINDING UP OR DISSOLUTION**

- 16.1 The Society may be wound up in the High Court of New Zealand under the Incorporated Societies Act 1908, sections 25 and 26, or dissolved by the Registrar of Incorporated Societies under section 28. Where there has been such a winding up or dissolution, section 27 provides that surplus assets if any shall be disposed of in accordance with the provisions of any rule or rules of the Society, or if this is not possible then as the Registrar directs.
- 16.2 If the Council recommends that the Society should be dissolved, then the President shall inform each branch of the grounds and terms, and request a formal response within six weeks. A resolution to dissolve or wind up the Society can be passed only:
  - by an Annual General Meeting or special meeting of the Society at which at least three-quarters of the Branches are represented;
  - if three-fourths of the voting members present vote to dissolve or wind up the society; and
  - if the resolution to dissolve or wind up is confirmed by two-thirds of the Branches not less than thirty days after the date on which the resolution to dissolve or wind up was passed.
- 16.3 In the case of dissolution or winding up, individual members shall not have rights to the assets of the Society. After payment of all debts and liabilities, if the Society is dissolved its net assets shall be donated to an educational charity operating in New Zealand, as may be decided upon by the Society at the meeting which votes to dissolve or wind up the Society.

## **BY-LAWS**

### **1 THE COUNCIL**

- 1.1. Membership of the Council shall be:
  - the President;
  - the Vice-President;
  - the Past President;
  - the Secretary;
  - the Treasurer;
  - the Membership Officer;
  - the Information and Privacy Officer;
  - Communications Officer

- the Chair of the Editorial Board;
- the Chair of the New Zealand Board of Geography Teachers;
- the University Academic Teachers Liaison Officer;
- the Initial Teacher Education Liaison Officer;
- the Early Career Researchers' Network Representative;
- the International Geographical Union Officer;
- The New Zealand Geographic Board Representative
- the Chair or one financial member delegated by the Chair from each Branch of the Society; and
- co-opted members, as required, for one-year renewable terms.

1.2 Meetings of the Council shall be held in a place to be decided by the Executive Committee, and the quorum for a meeting shall be:

- the President;
- the Vice-President or the Past President;
- the Secretary and/or the Treasurer;
- the Chair of the Editorial Board, or one of the appointed Editors, or the Information and Privacy Officer; and
- at least three branch representatives.

1.3 In the absence of the President, the meeting shall be chaired by the Vice-President, or the Past President, or the Treasurer, or the Secretary.

1.4 The minutes of a meeting of the Council shall normally be taken by the Secretary. In absence of the Secretary, the Treasurer, or Information and Privacy Officer, or Membership Officer shall take minutes of Council meeting.

1.5 Other financial members, employees and friends of the Society may be invited to attend a meeting of the Council and contribute to its discussions, but shall not have voting rights.

1.6 Voting at a meeting of the Council shall be by voice or show of hands unless a ballot is requested by the majority of those present.

## **2 SUB COMMITTEES**

### **2.1 The Executive Committee**

2.1.1 The Executive Committee shall conduct its business in a place to be decided, or by tele/video or another electronic conference mode.

2.1.2 Membership of the Executive Committee shall be:

- the President;
- the Vice-President;
- the Past President;
- the Secretary;
- the Treasurer;
- the Membership Officer;
- the Information and Privacy Officer;
- the Communications Officer

- the Chair of the Editorial Board;
- the Chair of the New Zealand Board of Geography Teachers;
- the University Academic Teachers Liaison Officer;
- the Initial Teacher Education Liaison Officer;
- the Early Career Researchers' Network Representative;
- the International Geographical Union Officer; and
- one or two co-opted members of Council;

2.1.3 The quorum for a meeting of the Executive Committee shall be:

- any one of the President, the Vice-President, or the Past President, one of whom shall chair the meeting; and
- four of the remaining members of the Executive Committee.

2.1.4 Voting shall be by voice or show of hands of those present, or by email, or other means as appropriate.

2.1.5 The Minutes shall normally be taken by the Secretary, and any decisions reported to the next meeting of the Council. In absence of the Secretary, the Treasurer, or Information and Privacy Officer, or Membership Officer shall take minutes of an Executive meeting.

2.1.6 The Executive Committee may make decisions binding on the Council and the Society provided that they do not involve changes to the Society's broad policies or expenditures in excess of amounts previously authorised by Council.

2.1.7 At each meeting the Executive Committee shall ratify budgeted expenditures approved by the Treasurer in the preceding month, and approve anticipated expenditure in the following month.

2.1.8 The Executive Committee will receive applications for NZGS ECRN Promising Geographer (Travel) and NZGS ECRN Promising Geographer (Publishing) at any time. Applications will be considered twice annually (in July and December) by a majority vote of the NZGS Executive committee present at the meeting.

## **2.2 New Zealand Board of Geography Teachers**

2.2.1 Through its Chair, the New Zealand Board of Geography Teachers shall advise the Council on matters relating to the teaching of geography in high schools and colleges.

2.2.2 The rules and any changes to existing rules of the New Zealand Board of Geography Teachers shall be approved by the Council before becoming operative.

2.2.3 The Chair of the New Zealand Board of Geography Teachers shall be elected by that body to serve for a period of three years, with the possibility of renewal for a further two years.

2.2.4 The budget of the NZBoGT will be approved by the Executive Committee at the meeting following the New Zealand Board of Geography Teachers Annual General Meeting, and ratified by Council

## **2.3 The Editorial Board**

- 2.3.1 The Editorial Board shall consist of the Chair of the Editorial Board, a Managing Editor and the team of section editors as required.
- 2.3.2 The Chair of the Editorial Board shall be responsible for sourcing content, advising the Council on matters relating to the *New Zealand Geographer* and any of the Society's occasional publications, and working with the publisher on policy matters relating to the Society's publications.
- 2.3.3 The Managing Editor shall be responsible for oversight of the section editors and working with the publisher on production matters.
- 2.3.4 The rules and any changes to existing rules of the Editorial Board shall be approved by the Council before becoming operative.

## **2.4 The Awards Sub-committee**

- 2.4.1 The Awards Sub-committee shall consist of the President, the Past-president, the Vice-president and two co-opted members. The Ngā Mātai Matawhenua Award Sub-committee shall consist of tangata whenua and geographers who demonstrate sustained mentorship of, or partnership with, tangata whenua.
- 2.4.2 The Sub-committee shall consider nominations for Distinguished New Zealand Geographer awards, Distinguished Service awards, Life Fellowship of the Society, the President's awards, Ngā Mātai Matawhenua Māori Award, the ECRN Promising Geographer Awards and the Honorary Geographer award of the Society.
- 2.4.3 Elected members of the Executive Committee are not normally eligible for awards during their time of service unless the sub-committee indicates exceptional circumstances.

## **2.5 Research and Study Groups**

- 2.5.1 A financial member of the Society may propose to convene a research and study group by sending a detailed, written statement to the President.
- 2.5.2 Each such proposal shall be tabled at a meeting of the Executive, when (a) approval may be given, (b) more information may be sought, or (c) the proposal may be declined.
- 2.5.3 The Society may be able to provide "seed money" for a research and study group, but the Executive will require a detailed budget before deciding.
- 2.5.4 In February, the convenor of each research and study group shall submit a report to the Secretary on the group's activities in the previous twelve months. This report will be tabled at the next meeting of the Council.
- 2.5.5 If a research and study group is inactive for more than 12 months, the Executive may decide to close it down.

## **2.6 Early Career Researchers' Network**

- 2.6.1 The NZGS Early Career Researchers' Network (ECRN) is a group of postgraduate students,

post-doctoral fellows, early career staff, and early career researchers who identify as geographers.

- 2.6.2 The ECRN is composed of up to two postgraduate representatives from each university, who are either elected or have agreed to undertake the role. The length of term for each ECRN representative may vary, and each departing member should strive to provide mentorship to new representatives.
- 2.6.3 The ECRN has one voting right on the New Zealand Geographical Society Executive exercised by one of the two national co-representatives. The two national co-representatives are either elected by other representatives, or agree to undertake the role.
- 2.6.4 The ECRN may at times approach the Executive for funding or support for such things as conference attendance, symposiums and webinars. The Executive will require a detailed budget before deciding.

### **3 AMENDMENTS TO BY-LAWS**

- 3.1 Except where the Constitution otherwise provides, by-laws may be amended at any time by the Executive Committee but must be ratified by the next Council or Annual General Meeting.

***Presented to the NZGS Council, Te Whanganui-a-Tara, 24 May 2025 for approval to be updated at the 2025 AGM.***